2001

Gibbons and Reed Company v. City of Ogden, Utah, Utah State Road Commission, Oscar A. Robin, Hardy Scales Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by highway contractor against a landowner and its successors in interest for breach of an agreement to supply road building materials; against the Utah State Road Commission for breach of a highway construction contract; and against the landowner's successors for interference.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court entered judgment in favor of all defendants and respondents, no cause of action.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff and appellant seeks reversal of the judgment and remand to the district court with directions to enter

Judgment for appellant in the amount of \$41,596.00; or to make additional findings of fact; or for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In connection with its highway construction program, it is the custom of the Utah State Road Commission to obtain options to purchase road building materials, and to permit its highway contractors to exercise the options in order to obtain necessary materials. When bids are solicited, the options are included in the proposed contract.

In early 1965, the Road Commission was planning a section of Interstate 15 between 31st Street and 300 North in Ogden. Two representatives of the commission, Richard N. Griffin and Otto Schrader, Jr., approached C. Ray Kimball, Assistant Ogden City Engineer, about the possibility of purchasing road building materials from the city. They were referred by Mr. Kimball to Charles R. Kelly, Director of Public Works (R.555).

Mr. Kelly said he believed that some materials could be removed, and the price of \$.03 per cubic yard was discussed, but Mr. Kelly asked the road commission representatives to send him a letter requesting the option (R.556).

On May 20, 1965, Mr. Schrader wrote a letter to Mr. Kelly (Ex.F), stating that the Road Commission's needed approximately 1,900,000 cubic yards of material, and that it

would be to the parties' mutual benefit if some of the materials could be removed from property owned by the city. Mr. Kelly replied that the city was willing to enter into an option agreement, and that the request to purchase the material had been approved by the city council (Ex.E).

Subsequently an "Option For Purchase Of Road Building Material" dated September 30, 1965, was signed by the City Manager:

This agreement entered into this 30 day of September, 1965, by and between the State Road Commission of Utah, hereinafter called the "Road Commission", first party, and City of Ogden, Utah (Sam B. Hood, City Manager) of Municipal Building, Ogden, Utah, hereinafter called "Owner", second party.

WITNESSETH: That for and in consideration of the sum of One Dollar (\$1.00) receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the Owner agrees to sell to the Road Commission, road building material from the property of the owner situated in SE $\frac{1}{4}$ of SW $\frac{1}{4}$ and the NE $\frac{1}{4}$ of the SW $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 31, Township 6 North, Range 1 West, SLB&M in Weber County, State of Utah.

1. If and when this option is exercised the Road Commission agrees to pay, or cause to be paid, for said road building materials at the rate of \$0.03 (Three Cents) per cubic yard.
2. The Owner grants to the Road Commission the right of ingress and egress over and across the Owner's property for a haul road to and from the material site hereinabove described.
3. The rights and privileges hereby granted or reserved to the Road Commission may, at the option of the Road Commission, be exercised by any agent or contractor of the Road Commission.

4. Special Stipulations. This option is for the purpose of establishing the price at which satisfactory granular or other materials will be available to the Road Commission for use as borrow or other road building purposes. It shall also cover special conditions affecting their availability and removal. It shall not be construed to mean that the Road Commission shall have a sole or prior right to all materials on the above-described property for the entire duration of the option. The Owner or its authorized representative will be contacted and essential arrangements made for each, or any, occupancy and removal of materials. All stipulations regarding work areas, conditions in which property shall be left and any other pertinent agreements shall be made before entry is made upon the property for the purpose of removing any road building material.

The removal of any material coming within the scope of this option must positively be removed to the Owner's lines and grades.

5. This option shall be binding on the parties hereto, their successors, heirs and assigns.

6. This option expires December 31, 1966. (R.353-354).

There are some variations in the testimony regarding the negotiations. Mr. Griffin testified that Mr. Kelly pointed out that there was an option to Marquardt until about April 1, 1966, and that he would like the materials removed to an average depth of 6 feet (R.556). Mr. Griffin told Mr. Kelly about the plan of the Road Commission to include the option in its construction contract (R.559), and to make material available to its contractor under an established price for the material (R.560). The provision with respect to removal to the "Owner's lines and grades" was

language customarily used in such contracts (R.561).

Mr. Griffin stated that the discussion of the 6-foot depth was in connection with the option to Marquardt, and that this quantity could be removed even if Marquardt exercised his option. Mr. Kelly indicated to Mr. Griffin that if the option were not exercised, it would be possible to go to a greater depth, but Mr. Griffin did not compute the amount of the material (R.738).

Mr. Kelly did not remember discussing the 6-foot depth (R.596), but testified that he would have been willing to let Gibbons and Reed remove materials to a depth of 6 to 8 feet (R.596, 780). Mr. Kelly said that the language with respect to the Owner's lines and grades was put in specifically at his request (R.757, 758), but other evidence showed that this language was customarily included in previous options taken by the Road Commission (Exhibits P and Q).

On January 9, 1966, the state road commission sent out a "Notice To Contractors" (Exhibit G) requesting proposals for construction of the section of Interstate 15. The contract to which the proposals related included the option between the Road Commission and Ogden City.

Prior to the bid opening, Patrick Michael Gibbons, project engineer for Gibbons and Reed Company, went to the office of the Ogden City Engineer to find out how much

material Gibbons and Reed would be able to obtain from its property, so it would know what prices to put in its bid (R.610). At that time Mr. Kimball brought out a map of the property (R.611) and discussed with Mr. Gibbons the grades to which the material could be taken, i.e., to the ramp road elevation from 31st Street to the freeway on the east and the elevation of 31st Street on the west (R.613).

Mr. Kimball worked directly under Mr. Kelly, and Mr. Kelly would ordinarily expect Mr. Kimball to call to his attention conversations of the type had with Michael Gibbons, and he generally did (R.772). Mr. Kelly remembers that Mr. Kimball reported to him that Mike Gibbons had been there and had talked to him, but Kelly didn't remember what Mr. Kimball had said, except that Mr. Gibbons had been there and about getting material from the pit (R.773). Prior to Mr. Kimball's conversation with Mr. Gibbons, Mr. Kimball had discussed with Mr. Kelly the removal of the material from the city pit. The discussion related to the finished grade of 31st Street and I-15 on the east, though Mr. Kimball doesn't remember discussing the quantity with Mr. Gibbons when he came to see him (R.787). He did know that Gibbons and Reed was in the process of preparing a bid and that it probably wanted to know where it might get the material (R.788).

Gibbons and Reed representatives then went to the

property, and on the basis of the lines and grades specified by Mr. Kimball, determined that 628,000 cubic yards would be available from the property (R.628). A later survey by Donald Hargis, led to a determination that 1,048,713.5 cubic yards was available (R.699).

The Gibbons and Reed computations were consistent with the plans in the construction contract with the Road Commission, which contemplated the removal of 1,937,655 cubic yards from "Prospect No. 1," which included the city and railroad property (R.628). Of this sum, 1,274,000 cubic yards was to come from the railroad property (R.629), leaving 663,655 cubic yards to come from the city property.

Gibbons and Reed Company computed its highway bid on the assumption that substantially all of the fill material would be obtainable from Prospect No. 1.

Gibbons and Reed was low bidder and on February 18, 1966, entered into a construction contract with the Road Commission (Ex.G).

The standard specifications incorporated in the construction contract (Ex.M) contained the following provisions with respect to options for the purchase of road building material:

The commission may acquire or secure options and make available to the contractor the right to take materials from these sources designated on the plans and described under special provisions, together with the right to use such

property as may be specified, adjacent thereto, for plant site, stock piles and hauling roads.

If the contractor desires to obtain material from sources under option to the commission, he shall comply with and fulfill all terms and conditions as may be stipulated in the option by the director; and shall notify the owner of the property of his intent to exercise the option before entering on the property. * * * (Emphasis added.)

Thereafter Ogden City entered into negotiations to sell the property. Upon learning of the sale, Gibbons and Reed Company met with representatives of Ogden City, including four members of the city council, and members from the Road Commission on May 17, 1966 (R.632), at which time the City Manager said that the city had made a deal and the property would not be available to Gibbons and Reed Company. Some possible alternatives were investigated by Ogden City but no other sources of materials were obtained (R.633, 635). Subsequently, on May 20, 1966, the city deeded the property to "Oscar A. Robin, a single man, president, Hardy Scale Company" and on May 30, 1966, entered into an agreement with him which contained the following provision:

Buyer agrees that Seller has the right to remove dirt from the above-described land as provided in Paragraph 7 of the prior contract between the parties. Buyer acknowledges that the Seller has an agreement with the Utah State Road Commission concerning the removal of fill from this land by that Commission. In the event the buyer, within one year after the date hereof, decides to sell fill from his land, he shall give the State of Utah first right to purchase the same at the same terms and conditions as in the Seller's contract with the State Road Commission (R.371). (Emphasis added).

Mr. Robin knew of the option agreement with the Road Commission when he signed the contract with the city (R.725). The local representative of Hardy Scales Company, and the only person in the State of Utah dealing for Mr. Robin prior to his appearance in Utah on May 19 and 20 to sign the contract, was Clay Barnard II. Mr. Barnard, and an architect who was considering plans for building on the property, both refused to let Gibbons and Reed Company remove any fill from it (R.631, 657).

As a result, Gibbons and Reed Company was forced to obtain fill material from other sources and incurred increased costs in loading, hauling, placing, royalty fees, and the stripping and rehabilitation of the property. The total additional cost incurred by Gibbons and Reed Company because of its failure to obtain fill material from the city property, after giving the city credit for some costs it otherwise would have incurred, was \$41,596.00 (R.670-671, Exhibit L).

The trial court found that the option agreement had been entered into; that it was furnished to Gibbons and Reed Company by the Road Commission for consideration in making its bid; that prior to making its bid the company discussed the option with the Assistant City Engineer, and that thereafter the company and the Road Commission entered into a

contract (R.510-511). It also found that the agreement for sale of the property was between Ogden City and Oscar A. Robin, rather than Hardy Scales Company; that Gibbons and Reed Company had not communicated to Robin any intention to exercise the option; that Gibbons and Reed Company was not reasonably justified in assuming that it could obtain 498,623 cubic yards of material from the property; and that the Road Commission had never represented the plaintiff that the option was a binding option agreement or for any fixed or established amount of road building material (R.512). The court concluded that the option agreement was "illusory, void, and ineffective," because it failed to set forth the amount of building material which might be obtained from the property; that the plaintiff had failed exercise the option; and that plaintiff had no cause of action against any of the defendants. Judgment was entered in favor of all defendants.

ARGUMENT

I

THE OPTION AGREEMENT WAS VALID, AND WAS ENFORCEABLE BY GIBBONS AND REED COMPANY.

In concluding that the option was "illusory, void, and ineffective," and that the agreement was to establish a price at which building material would be sold, if Ogden City decided to sell it, the trial court ignored the reality of the situation and the context in which the parties were

bargaining. It was well known to Ogden City that the Road Commission needed approximately 2,000,000 cubic yards of fill material, and that the benefit of the option would be assigned to the highway contractor who was a successful bidder on the I-15 section. It was known (and it is common knowledge) that highway contractors in preparing their bids must know not only the price of material they are going to use in the contract, but the quantities they can obtain at a given price. The court chose to construe the option agreement as if it meant nothing.

If possible, a court should construe an agreement to give it some effect. The general rule is well stated in 17 Am.Jur.2d, Contracts, §254:

* * * The terms of a contract must, if possible, be construed to mean something, rather than nothing at all, and where it is possible to do so by a construction in accordance with the fair intendment of a contract, the tendency of the courts is to give it life, virility, and effect, rather than to nullify or destroy it.

In Schofield v. ZCMI, 85 Utah 281, 39 P.2d 342 (1934), an employee of ZCMI had sought to enforce rights under a pension program. ZCMI argued that the pension plan was an offer of a gratuity and was not meant to constitute a binding contract between the parties. In rejecting this argument, this court said:

It is elemental, in construing a contract, that its purpose, its nature, and subject mat-

ter should be considered. A construction giving an instrument a legal effect to accomplish its purpose will be adopted when it can reasonably be done, and between two possible constructions that will be adopted which establishes a valid contract. [Citations omitted].

These statements are in accord with the general rule as found in Restatement of Contracts, §236.

The purpose of the parties in this case was to assure a source of material for the construction of a highway. It was known by all that a substantial amount of material was required and that the contractor, in making his bid, would base his base prices upon the quantities of material available at particular prices and from particular sources. The contract is phrased in terms of legal liabilities:

The Owner agrees to sell to the Road Commission, road building material * * *.

If and when this option is exercised the Road Commission agrees to pay, or cause to be paid, for said road building materials at the rate of \$0.03 (THREE CENTS) per cubic yard.

The rights and privileges hereby granted or reserved to the Road Commission may * * * be exercised by any agent or contractor of the Road Commission.

This option is for the purpose of establishing the price at which satisfactory granular or other materials will be available to the Road Commission for use as borrow or other road building purposes. (Emphasis added.)

Inasmuch as the parties intended to create legally enforceable rights, the only remaining substantial question of contract construction is whether the contract was too uncertain to be enforceable, because of the fact that it did not specify the quantity of material to be made available.

The option agreement provided that the material would be removed to the Owner's "lines and grades," but all of the witnesses agreed that such a provision would not permit the Owner to specify such lines and grades that no material could be removed. All knew that the highway contractor was entitled to remove some material. But how much?

The option agreement is analogous, in many respects to a "satisfaction" contract, i.e., one in which performance is conditional upon satisfaction of the promisor, and a rule like that applied in satisfaction contracts should be applied in this case.

The rule is set out in Restatement of Contracts, §265, as follows:

A promise in terms conditional on the promisor's satisfaction with an agreed exchange, gives rise to no duty of immediate performance until such satisfaction; but where it is doubtful whether words mean that a promise is conditional on the promisor's personal satisfaction with an agreed exchange, or on the sufficiency of that exchange to satisfy a reasonable man in the promisor's position, the latter interpretation is adopted.

In Haymore v. Levinson, 8 Utah 2d 66, 328 P.2d 307 (1953), involving a house that was to be paid for upon "satisfactory completion," this court rejected the notion that the promisor was not required to pay unless "satisfied." The court distinguished "personal" satisfaction contracts from others, and said:

The other class of cases involve satisfaction as to such things as operative fitness, mechanical utility or structural completion in which the personal sensibilities of such predominant importance to the performance. As to such contracts the better considered view, and the one we adhere to, is that an objective standard should be applied; that is, the party favored by such a provision has no arbitrary privilege of declining to acknowledge satisfaction and that he cannot withhold approval unless there is apparent some reasonable justification for doing so.

Applying the objective standard, the court held that if, in light of such a standard, construction would meet the approval of reasonable and prudent persons, that should be sufficient. And in 13th and Washington Streets Corp. v. Neslen, 123 Utah 70, 254 P.2d 847 (1953), the court applied an objective standard notwithstanding a contract provision that the landlord would be "the sole judge" of the amount of heat, light, janitor and elevator services to be furnished for a building.

See also Mattei v. Hopper, 51 Cal.2d 119, 330 P.2d 625 (1958), which holds that "satisfaction" contracts are not

illusory, and are enforceable.

An objective standard should be applied in this case, and the contract should be construed as requiring Ogden City to permit removal of such quantity of road materials as is reasonable under the circumstances, considering the needs of the contractor, the topography of the area, the condition of the property, the quantities of materials available, and the potential and prospective uses of the property after removal of the material.

But even if the contract, at the time of its execution, was not sufficiently certain to be enforced, it thereafter became so, and as said in Restatement of Contracts, §32, comment c:

Offers which are originally too indefinite may later acquire precision and become valid offers, by the subsequent words or acts of the offeror or his assent to words or acts of the offeree.

See also, Moon Motor Car Co. of New York v. Moon Motor Car Co., Inc., 29 F.2d 3, 4 (1928), in which it is pointed out by Justice Learned Hand, that the contract is enforceable if, "when the time arrives," there is some standard by which it can be tested.

The evidence is undisputed that prior to the time Gibbons and Reed Company submitted the highway bid, its project engineer went to the office of the City Engineer to determine the available quantity of material. Mr. Gibbons

testified that the Assistant City Engineer produced maps of the area and pointed out the lines and grades at 31st Street and the ramp road to Interstate 15. On this basis, Gibbons and Reed Company went to the property and made surveys of the quantity of material which could be produced. The first survey showed that approximately 628,000 tons could be obtained, and a second, more professional, survey showed that with a 2% grade more than 1,000,000 cubic yards could be obtained.

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