2001

Gibbons and Reed Company v. City of Ogden, Utah, Utah State Road Commission, Oscar A. Robin, Hardy Scales Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

property to Hardy Scales, and offered to find substitute materials. Reed testified that then, instead of demanding performance of the option, he accepted the City's offer to find other material. In effect it was an accord and satisfaction of any claim plaintiff might have had under the purported option, and a release of rights under the option rather than an exercise thereof.

Further, Mr. Reed testified that after receiving the City's proposal to look for other sources, nothing was done by Gibbons and Reed to pursue Hardy Scales or Mr. Robin any further. These matters, be it remembered, took place Three (3) days before May 20th when the sale of the surface rights in the land to Mr. Robin was consummated and the Deed to him, with his agreement to give the Road Commission first refusal as to fill materials on the land, were recorded, giving notice to plaintiff of Robin's willingness to sell some fill materials if the option were exercised.

And it should be noted in passing that nothing done by any of the defendants in any way hindered or prevented plaintiff from exercising the option at or after the time of this meeting by saying or writing to the City and to Robin, as required by the option and construction contract that the company exercise the

option and request that the owner fix the lines and grades, which would determine the quantities, to be removed. Notwithstanding the rumors it heard about a deal with Hardy Scales, it could still have complied with the necessary legal formality of notifying the owner and/or the owner's successor that the option was exercised. Whether through negligence, ignorance or inattention it failed to do so and as a result at best had an uncertain option and not a contract formed by the required acceptance of the option-offer. And it has no one to blame but itself for this neglect. Even if the conveyance to Robin were a repudiation by the City, there is no excuse whatsoever for failing to communicate with Robin and notify him, as the successor with notice of the alleged option, that the existing option on the land purchased is exercised.

IV

NEITHER ROBIN NOR HARDY SCALES COMPANY IS LIABLE TO PLAINTIFF FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH THE ALLEGED OPTION AGREEMENT.

The Gravamen of plaintiff-appellant's claim against Robin and Hardy Scales is set out in "plaintiff's claims" in the Pre-Trial Order as drafted by counsel for plaintiff-appellant, on Page 3 thereof:

Defendants Robin and Hardy Scales intentionally and willfully interfered with plaintiff's rights under the option agreement, when, with knowledge of its existence, they induced defendant Ogden City to sell them the subject property under a contract by the terms of which said defendants were obligated only to offer road building materials to plaintiff if they decided to sell such materials.

However, the UNCONTROVERTED FACTS established by the Pre-Trial Order (Paragraphs 3.d. & 3.e.) show that when Ogden City acquired title the State of Utah reserved "all coal, oil, gas, mines, metals, gravel and all other minerals," and the right to prospect for and remove the same. (Emphasis Supplied.) And the Deed of May 20, 1966, from the City to Mr. Robin accepted and reserved "all coal, oil, gas, mines, metals, gravel and all other materials" and the right to prospect for and remove the same. (Emphasis Supplied.)

It is further uncontroverted that, so far as known, the land in question consists of fine and coarse sand with some gravel. Sand, of course, is basically the same material as gravel, the only distinction being that the sand comes in substantially smaller units or particles. Ballentine's Law Dictionary, 3rd Edition, defines "gravel" as "a mixture of sand and small rocks." (Page 534.) It also defines "sand" as "A species of stone. . . . Disintegrated rock." (Page 1138.) And Webster's Seventh New

Collegiate Dictionary, 1970 Edition, defines "sand" as "a loose granular material resulting from the disintegration of rock that is used in mortar, glasss, abrasives, and foundry molds." Again Ballentine's Law Dictionary, 3rd Edition, says of "mineral": 'Broadly, a natural inorganic substance forming a part of the soil or crust of the earth.'" It supplements its definition with a quotation from Jeffrey v. Spruce - Boone Land Company (West Virginia) 164 SE 292 as follows "In its ordinary and common meaning, the word is a comprehensive one and includes every description of stone and rock deposit, whether containing metallic or nonmetallic substances; and where minerals are reserved in a conveyance, if the ordinary meaning of the word is to be changed or restricted, the language used must be reasonably clear to show that intent." There is, of course, nothing in these conveyances to show that the word was used in any restrictive sense, but on the contrary the language clearly indicates and intent to use it in the broadest possible sense, as it is explained that the substances excepted were minerals or materials "of whatsoever kind or nature."

Accordingly, it is clear that Mr. Robin bought only surface rights and that all substances beneath the surface were reserved to the State of Utah and Ogden City never acquired title

thereto and never conveyed title thereto to Mr. Robin. And the option is indeed reduced to an absurdity: It purports to be an agreement by the City to sell to a State Agency materials which the State reserved and still owns! If Gibbons and Reed had paid attention to the public records, with which they were charged with knowledge, they would have realized that neither Ogden City nor defendants Robin nor Hardy Scales Company owned any interest in the fill materials in which plaintiffs were interested, no matter what they might assume. And it must be remembered that defendants Robin and Hardy Scales Company never signed any contract to sell these materials to the Road Commission or its contractor; if they are chargeable with an contractual obligation it is because they acquired the subject of the contract with knowledge of the encumbrance - and now it is clear that they never did acquire title to the subject of the contract, that is, to the sand and gravel constituting the fill material. If Mr. Robin had acquired it he would have been willing to sell the same in reasonable quantities, as he testified, but he was never approached or asked to do so. Nor did his purchase of the material make it impossible for Ogden City to perform: after Robin had purchased the surface rights, the City was in as good a position as it ever was to sell the subsurface material. Robin had no responsibility whatsoever

for plaintiff's failure to check the record title to the land and so learn that the State, and not Ogden City or Robin, was the owner of the subsurface material it wanted.

In the light of the uncontroverted facts the Trial Court's findings to the effect that plaintiff's damages, if any, was not caused by any breach of contract or any misrepresentation by defendants, but was caused by the misapprehension and misunderstanding of plainiff's representatives, who never bothered to ascertain the facts behind or the legal meaning of the "option," is eminently correct.

As above outlined, Mr. Robin reasonably and justifiably relied upon the representations of the City authorities regarding the contents and effect of the outstanding option. Indeed, the uncontradicted evidence discloses, and the Trial Court found, that the information they furnished Robin upon the alleged contract was accurate, and that the so-called option merely fixed the price at which materials, if any, would be sold, and did not bind the City or its successors to sell any materials. And even if Mr. Robin could be held to be negligent in proceeding to buy the property without further inquiry as to details, he would not be liable to the plaintiff under the principles on which the plaintiff relies. The plaintiff cites and relies upon 86 CJS TORTS Section 43 & 44. And yet that authority itself states positively that

"Mere negligent interference with a contract. . . . will not subject a person to liability. . . . Similarly, one does not induce another to commit a breach of contract with a third person when he merely enters into an agreement with the other with knowledge that the other cannot perform both it and his contract with the third person. . . ." Ibid., Section 44, Notes 4 & 7.

The same work states:

"In order that the interference may constitute a tort, the contract must be valid, and contracts void for illegality, or by reason of repugnance to public policy, have been held not to be within the rule extending protection against interference with existing contractual rights." Ibid., Notes 13 & 14.

In Soter v. Wasatch Development Corporation, 21 Utah 2nd 224, 443 P. 2nd 663, this Honorable Court adopted the general rule as to the necessary elements of a cause of action for interference with a contract. The court said:

"In order to establish a right to recover on such a cause of action the plaintiffs would have to show that the defendants, without justification, by some wrongful and malicious act, interfered with the plaintiffs' right of contract and that actual damage resulted. (Emphasis Supplied.)

Here there is no allegation and no proof that either Robin or Hardy Scales acted wrongfully or maliciously; on the contrary all of the evidence is that they acted in entire good

faith and with the intention of according to the Road Commission and its successors any and all rights they might have. Even if it should be considered that malice should be inferred from an intentional interference with a contract right without justification or excuse, here there is no proof whatever that Mr. Robin or his company intended by the purchase of an interest in the land to interfere with the option contract. The evidence is to the contrary, and the plaintiff caused its own damages by walking away from the option, even when told by Clay Barnard that plaintiff should see his boss (Mr. Robin) about materials.

Neither is there sufficient, or any evidence that Robin acted with knowledge that there was an effective option contract. In order to charge Robin with a tort, it must be proven that he had actual knowledge of the contract, and the proof is only that he had knowledge there was some contract, relating to the materials, and that he should give the Commission the first refusal on any materials sold.

Finally, as the Trial Court properly concluded, there was no valid contract in existence and no rights based thereon with which Mr. Robin could have interfered. And Robin never acquired title to the materials in question and hence he could not have sold them even if he had been asked to sell them and had

wanted to sell them. For him to sell them would have been a conversion of property reserved and belonging to the State of Utah.

And, of course, equity cannot and will not impose upon Mr. Robin the obligation to sell materials he never contracted to sell and which he never owned or acquired. It is respectfully submitted that under the evidence and the law the plaintiff has failed to prove a valid option contract for the sale of the materials, that the obligations of such contract were imposed upon Robin or Hardy Scales, that they or either of them breached the contract, or that they or either of them induced Ogden City to breach the contract.

It is respectfully submitted that the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment in favor of defendants, on the merits, is correct and should be affirmed.

V

THE TRIAL COURT IN UTAH NEVER ACQUIRED JURISDICTION OVER ROBINS AND HARDY SCALES COMPANY.

The summons upon defendant-respondents Robin and Hardy Scales Company in this case was served upon them outside the territorial limits of the State of Utah and in the State of California. Plaintiff claims personal jurisdiction over them by

virtue of Utah's "Long-Arm Statute," Sections 78-27-22, and following, UCA. No where in its complaint against these defendants does the plaintiff plead or attempt to plead that these defendants did any of the acts enumerated in the Statute by which they would submit themselves to the jurisdiction of the courts of Utah, as set out in Section 78-27-24, UCA, notwithstanding the provision of Section 78-27-26, UCA, that "Only claims arising from acts enumerated herein may be asserted against a defendant in an action in which jurisdiction over him is based upon this act." In other words, the plaintiff has failed to plead the facts which it apparently claims would, under the law, vest the Utah Trial Court with the extraordinary power and authority of obtaining personal jurisdiction by service of process upon a defendant outside the State of Utah and within territory over which the Utah Court has no jurisdiction.

Appearing specially, these defendants objected to plaintiff's Interrogatories propounded to them as parties defendant upon the ground that, without pleading the jurisdictional facts justifying extraterritorial service of process, the service was a nullity, and the court had no jurisdiction over the persons of these defendants to require answer to the interrogatories. Judge Hyde sustained these objections upon the grounds stated (R. 104).

These defendants then raised the same defenses of invalid service of summons and of lack of jurisdiction over their persons in the first two defenses set out in their answer. Of course these defenses were not waived because joined with other defenses in the action. Rule 12(b), URCP.

On plaintiff's motion to determine these defenses in advance of the other issues, Judge Gould, in effect reversing his fellow Judge Hyde, overruled these defenses and denied the defendants motions for dismissal for lack of jurisdiction of the person, specifying however that this question was reserved and should be determined at the trial on the merits. As hereinbefore indicated, it never was fully determined.

Generally service of process outside of the territorial jurisdiction of the issuing court is a nullity, for the process of a court ordinarily has no force outside its jurisdiction, and the sovereignty of the state itself does not embrace authority to control the manner of executing process to the extent of making lawful any service against a person without the jurisdiction of the state's court as a basis for a personal judgment. 21 CJS COURTS, Section 83, Page 125, & Section 91.

It is axiomatic that where the jurisdiction of a court is limited in any way, the burden is upon the one invoking the

jurisdiction to plead and to prove the facts which will bring the case within the limits. This is true, for instance of Federal Courts (32 Am Jur 2nd FEDERAL PRACTICE, Section 168; and McNutt v. General Motors Acceptance Corporation, 298 U.S. 178, 80 L.Ed. 1135) and in the City Courts of the State of Utah (Hardy v. Meadows, 71 Utah 255, 264, P. 968, and Mathison v. Poultry & Stock Mineral Mining Company, 85 Utah 74, 38 P. 2nd 741).

As indicated, it is also axiomatic that the jurisdiction of a State Court is limited to the state boundary, absent special circumstances which might extend that jurisdiction into another state. Accordingly, as the Long-Arm Statute under certain particularized and limited circumstances specified in the act extends the authority of the court's process beyond the place where it has general jurisdiction, the burden is on the plaintiff here to plead in its complaint (which it has not done), and to prove that these defendants did acts within the State of Utah which bring them within the limited purview of the Long-Arm Statute. McKanna v. Edgar (1965, Texas) 388 SW 2nd 927; Taylor v. Portland Paramount Corporation (CA 9th) 383 F. 2nd 634; and Lebensfeld v. Tuch, 252 NYS 2nd 594.

It is respectfully submitted that the order of Judge

Hyde, ruling that the service of summons upon these defendants in California without pleading the facts bringing the case within the Long-Arm Statute was void and ineffective and that the Court had no jurisdiction over the persons of these defendants, was correct and established the law of the case so far as the District Court is concerned, and that it was error for his brother, Judge Gould, thereafter effectively to overrule and set aside the decision of Judge Hyde (Peterson v. Peterson, (December 27, 1974) _____ Utah _____, 530 P. 2nd 821).

And to compel these defendants, over whom the court actually had no jurisdiction, as above demonstrated, to go to the great trouble and expense of coming to Utah to try issues with respect to which they were not before the court, and then to defend an appeal upon the Trial Court's decision of those issues, thus burdening the courts with unnecessary and ineffective proceedings, was even greater error, which should be corrected.

CONCLUSION

It is therefore respectfully submitted that the judgment of the court below dismissing plaintiff's action as to these defendants should be affirmed, and/or should be extended

to dismiss the action for lack of jurisdiction over these
defendants personally.